Services

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations
Online at http://www.iisd.ca/csd/csd17/

Vol. 5 No. 277

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)

Tuesday, 12 May 2009

CSD 17 HIGHLIGHTS:
MONDAY, 11 MAY 2009

On the first day of the second week of CSD 17, delegates
met in a morning Plenary session, during which Chair Verburg
informed them that arrangements had been made to convene
night sessions. The two Working Groups then continued
negotiating their assigned sections of the text, meeting into the
night.

PLENARY

During the morning Plenary, Chair Verburg noted the need to
reduce the Chair’s Negotiating Text from a 70-page document
to a 20-page one. She invited delegates to complete the second
reading of the text by Tuesday and urged them to consolidate
it by eliminating duplication. She noted that arrangements had
been made to allow for negotiations to continue past 6:00 pm in
an informal setting. Delegates also agreed to the request of the
Nordic Council of Ministers for accreditation to the CSD (E/
CN.17/2009/L.1).

WORKING GROUP 1

AGRICULTURE: Indonesia on behalf of the G-77/CHINA
said text proposed by the EU does not reflect properly the role
of sustainable forest management in eradicating hunger and
poverty. The EU disagreed and the US proposed bracketing
“eradication,” noting that eradication is about extreme poverty
and reduction about poverty. EGYPT highlighted the role of
forests in maintaining biodiversity.

SWITZERLAND, supported by NORWAY, added to the
paragraph on plant genetic resources reference to the FAO
Global Plan of Action on Animal Genetic Resources. The G-77/
CHINA also proposed referencing equitable sharing of benefits
in harmony with the CBD, as an important objective of the
treaty on plant genetic resources in addition to conservation and
sustainable use. CANADA cautioned against expanding the text
and, joined by the EU, US and NORWAY, suggested stressing
merely the “full implementation” of the treaty. The G-77/China
noted that not all countries are members of the treaty, so to
“recognize its importance” would be sufficient.

The US suggested a separate paragraph on support for the
Global Plan of Action on Animal Genetic Resources, but said
it was open to merging it with the paragraph on plants. In the
paragraph on the use of biodiversity, the US added mention
of international obligations, and the G-77/CHINA proposed a
reference to benefit sharing. The Chair asked Norway to convene
a consultation to reconcile different proposals on biodiversity,

and NORWAY reported on agreed language in the afternoon.
The EU, supported by SWITZERLAND, proposed relocating
references to ecosystem services to the introductory paragraph,
but the G-77/CHINA said ecosystem services is a concept that is
not yet agreed. The US, with CANADA, insisted on referencing
women.

On pest management, the G-77/CHINA expressed concern
about focus on limiting risks in enhancing productivity rather
than the effects of such management on productivity. The EU
noted that pesticides affect the whole chain of production.
CANADA stressed that production must be sustainable. The
US, CANADA, G-77/CHINA and RUSSIAN FEDERATION
agreed on the deletion of the EU-proposed text, supported by
SWITZERLAND, on developing international guidelines for
sustainable agriculture.

In the paragraph on enhancing the quality of food, the
RUSSIAN FEDERATION inserted “where appropriate” before
“nutritional fortification,” and the G-77/CHINA proposed
beginning the paragraph with “support.”

The EU proposed reference to ecosystem services in the
paragraph on agricultural landscapes. On credit and other
financial facilities, the US proposed deleting G-77/CHINA-
proposals for “loan subsidies” and “low interest rates.” The
G-77/CHINA insisted on mentioning “accessible” credit.

The US proposed replacing “provide support to” the capacity
of developing countries to develop agro-industry with “to
enhance,” but the G-77/CHINA insisted on retaining “support.”
Delegates agreed on the paragraph on enhancing coordination,
with its placement to be decided later. The EU suggested
removing the paragraph on intellectual property rights, as
pertaining to the WTO, but the G-77/CHINA said it wished to
retain it.

The US proposed replacing the G-77/CHINA language on
disasters with wording on “encouraging development of risk-
management systems for agriculture,” including crop insurance
policies, but the subparagraph remains bracketed.

AUSTRALIA suggested deleting text on mitigating
environmental externalities because of duplication. The US
supported language on the loss of pollinators. CANADA
proposed text on ecosystem services, which the G-77/CHINA
objected to and AUSTRALIA expressed reservation about.

The US and EU said the discussion on removal of obstacles
affecting people living under foreign occupation is not
appropriate for this section. The US said land and tenure rights
and rural development are captured in three different sections
and suggested consolidating the references. JAPAN proposed

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Keith Ripley, Tanya Rosen, Andrey Vavilov, Ph.D., Lynn Wagner, Ph.D., and Kunbao
Xia. The Digital Editor is Leila Mead. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@jisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI
<kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development — DFID), the Government of the United
States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the
Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature
Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-ENV), and the Italian Ministry for the Environment, Land
and Sea. General Support for the Bulletin during 2009 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Australia, the Austrian Federal Ministry
of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN
International, Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global
Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI), the
Government of Iceland, and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). Funding for the translation of the Bulletin into Spanish at this meeting has been provided by
the Spanish Ministry of the Environment and Rural and Marine Affairs. The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views
of TISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including
requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11A, New York, New York
10022, USA. The ENB team at CSD 17 can be contacted by e-mail at <lynn@jiisd.org>.




- -

Reporting

i)
2|Services

Tuesday, 12 May 2009

- Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Vol. 5 No. 277 Page 2

replacing “efficient” with “sustainable” agricultural production.
The G-77/CHINA, supported by the EU, said the reference to the
Maputo Declaration should be moved to the Africa section. The
US said the discussion on ODA should be moved to the means
of implementation section. Delegates agreed on text on direct
investment to support sustainable agricultural production. The
US said the CSD does not make decisions about food security,
and emphasized the focus on sustainability and its criteria.

At the beginning of the evening session, Co-Chair Raguz
announced that the Bureau had proposed assigning the section
on Rural Development to Working Group 2. The EU, supported
by the US, suggested that the section on interlinkages, cross-
cutting issues and means of implementation should be assigned
to Working Group 2 instead.

WORKING GROUP 2

DESERTIFICATION: Text was agreed on supporting
traditional practices and local knowledge concerning land use,
water management and agriculture after MEXICO’s amendment
to add “appropriate” to “traditional” and agreement by G-77/
CHINA to drop its amendment on use of indigenous plantations.
Also agreed was new G-77/CHINA text on harmonizing sectoral
policies and programmes for arresting and reversing land
degradation and building coordination through convergence after
adding a US modification “at the national level.”

Text on promoting scientific research and strengthening the
scientific base on desertification and drought was agreed with
the G-77/CHINA’s addition of “monitoring” and the US’s
re-wording of “to measure results and to monitor impacts”
of programmes combating desertification. The EU bracketed
the G-77/CHINA’s new proposal on supporting the efforts of
developing countries to establish centers of excellence and
monitoring to combat desertification.

Delegates agreed on text supporting the establishment and
strengthening of disaster management capacities with the G-77/
CHINA’s amendments referencing “at all levels,” and managing
adverse impacts of climate change. The G-77/CHINA bracketed
the EU’s proposed reference to contribute to the building of
a global set of key indicators to the paragraph on expanding
access to appropriate technologies to assess, analyze and
quantify the nature, severity and impacts of land degradation and
desertification.

The US opposed the G-77/CHINA’s addition to the paragraph
on best practices and lessons learned to combat desertification
with reference to supporting developing countries in the
development, deployment and diffusion of technologies, and the
G-77/CHINA objected to NORWAY’s proposed reference to
conservation agriculture.

Delegates differed on placement of the paragraph on building
the capacity of affected communities to deal with the impacts
of desertification, with the G-77/CHINA asking for its deletion,
MEXICO supporting moving it to the section on interlinkages,
and the EU in favor of bracketing and leaving it in the same
place. The Chair suggested and the delegates accepted moving
the text to the chapeau of the section on desertification, while
keeping it bracketed.

Delegates agreed to a US proposal to build the capacity of
affected communities to “address” rather than “prevent and
deal with” the impacts of desertification. They also agreed to
a US proposal to specify that investment in sustainable land
management should be, as it relates to combating desertification
and land degradation “in arid, semi-arid and dry sub-humid
areas.”

The EU, supported by the US, AUSTRALIA, JAPAN and
NORWAY, proposed replacing five sub-paragraphs related to
resources with a sub-paragraph calling for the mobilization

of “adequate, predictable and timely financial resources for

the implementation of the Ten-year Strategic Plan of the
UNCCD” as well as for support to the work of the UNCCD
Secretariat, and inviting the GEF Council to take the Strategic
Plan into account in the next replenishment period. The G-77/
CHINA preferred to discuss the Chair’s draft sub-paragraphs
on resources, so the EU proposal remains bracketed along with
the existing sub-paragraph calling for scaled-up allocation of
financial resources to the GEF Focal Area on Land Degradation.
Delegates agreed to delete the sub-paragraph calling for
mobilization of resources for the Global Mechanism and an
EU-proposed alternative paragraph on mobilizing resources for
the UNCCD.

In the sub-paragraph on regional cooperation, Mexico insisted
on referencing the UNCCD regional implementation annexes,
but the EU did not want to restrict cooperation to the annexes,
given that they only include affected countries. Delegates
agreed to call for enhanced regional cooperation, including
through the five regional implementation annexes. The G-77/
CHINA retained brackets on a US proposal specifying that this
cooperation would need support at all levels.

AFRICA: An alternative text was agreed on taking note
of the Madrid High Level Meeting on Food Security for All
and CSD support for establishing a new Global Partnership on
Agriculture and Food Security, and the need for the consultative
process to actively involve African countries. Text regarding
the Windhoek Declaration was agreed with modifications
to “take note of” (CANADA) and noting the AfricaSan+5
Conference and the June 2008 African Union Heads of State
meeting in Sharm El-Sheikh (G-77/CHINA). Text on NEPAD’s
Comprehensive Africa Agricultural Development Programme
was agreed with modifications to accelerate the realization of
agricultural development in line with the Programme (JAPAN)
and adding a reference to the Maputo Declaration target of
allocating at least ten percent of national budgets to agricultural
development (G-77/CHINA). A separate paragraph on the
Maputo Declaration was deleted.

Delegates added a bracketed CANADIAN-proposed
alternative text calling for stimulating private investments in
agriculture while protecting small farmers’ and workers’ rights
and ensuring gender equality. Delegates agreed to the EU’s
proposal to implement IWRM and to add US-proposed text on
improved soil conservation techniques into this sub-paragraph.
The G-77/CHINA proposed that the text on climate change
adaptation and disaster risk reduction should indicate that
international support would be provided for these actions. The
EU suggested that the text might be better placed in the cross-
cutting section, and it remained in brackets.

IN THE CORRIDORS

Reactions varied to the texts Chair Verburg circulated to
delegates on Sunday, providing a brief, coded list of duplicate
references and draft compromise language for the Agriculture
section’s chapeau. Several delegates privately indicated they had
expected more draft compromise text. Some said the reference
list offered “a good start,” others thought it was incomplete,
and some indicated they needed guidance on how to use it. One
delegate argued that absent a strong action from the Bureau
on the addition of new amendments, delegations will not rein
them in, since “everyone else is adding them, so why shouldn’t
we?” Nonetheless, Monday saw a slight increase in the tempo
of negotiation. Some “heavyweights” from national delegations
were seen moving from their backseats to the microphones,
taking over the search for compromise language, and a few key
delegates started sending the first distinct signals of desire to
streamline the text.




<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


